United Nations CEDAW:/cisr 1484

7 \V/ Convention on the Elimination Distr.; General
‘\’g ¢y of All Forms of Discrimination 7 March 2017
T —

against Women English only

Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination
against Women
Sixty-sixth session

Summary record of the 1484th meeting
Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Wednesday, 22 February 2017, at 10 a.m.

Chair: Ms. Leinarte

Contents

Consideration of reports submitted by States parties under article 18 of the Convention
(continued)

Eighth periodic report of Sri Lanka

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a
memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of
the date of the present document to the English Translation Section, room E.6040, Palais des Nations,
Geneva (trad_sec_eng@unog.ch).

Any corrections to the records of the public meetings of the Committee at this session will be
consolidated in a single corrigendum, to be issued shortly after the end of the session.

GE.17-03011 (E) 010317 070317

A Pleas recyele )
*1703011%




CEDAWY/C/SR.1484

The meeting was called to order at 10 a.m.

Consideration of reports submitted by States parties under article 18 of the
Convention (continued)

Eighth periodic report of Sri Lanka (CEDAW/C/LKA/8; CEDAW/C/LKA/Q/8 and
Add.1)

1. At the invitation of the Chair, the delegation of Sri Lanka took places at the
Committee table.

2. Ms. Senarathne (Sri Lanka), introducing her country’s eighth periodic report
(CEDAW/C/LKA/8), said that unprecedented political developments had recently taken
place in Sri Lanka. Two years previously, for the first time since the country had gained its
independence, the two main political parties had come together to form a national unity
Government. As a result, many bold steps had since been taken in the fields of human
rights, reconciliation and economic development.

3. Sri Lanka had demonstrated its commitment and political will to improve the
situation of women. As a multi-ethnic and multi-faith country, Sri Lanka faced many
challenges, and the scourge of terrorism had affected all spheres of life. The effects of the
conflict on women had been particularly severe. In response, the Government had given
priority to issues relating to the rights and welfare of women, in particular those affected by
the conflict, and had adopted a multisectoral approach.

4. Ms. Jinasena (Sri Lanka) said that policy directives relating to women’s rights and
national programmes for the prevention of discrimination against women were based firmly
on the Convention and on the guarantees set out in article 12 (2) of the Constitution. For
that reason, the lack of a specific law transposing the Convention into domestic law had not
prevented women from seeking redress for violations of the rights set forth therein. The
Convention had been made available in the two national languages, Sinhala and Tamil.

5. Article 126 of the Constitution established that the Supreme Court had sole and
exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine any question relating to the infringement or
imminent infringement by executive or administrative action of any fundamental right.
Article 27 (6) of the Constitution, which established the State’s obligation to guarantee
equality of opportunity and prevent exploitation, was one example of a provision reflecting
the rights set forth in the Convention. In addition to the Constitution, other legislative acts
had been passed to give effect to the provisions of the Convention. They included the
amendments made to the Penal Code in 1995, 1998 and 2006; the 2003 Citizenship
Amendment Act; the 2005 Prevention of Domestic Violence Act; new regulations
introduced under the Education Ordinance in 2016; the 2015 Assistance to and Protection
of Victims of Crime and Witnesses Act; and the 1998 Prohibition of Ragging and Other
Forms of Violence in Educational Institutions Act.

6. The Government was currently considering proposals to draft a new Constitution,
which would subsequently be put to a referendum, if required. In that connection, special
attention would be paid to the chapter on fundamental rights, and consideration would be
given to the inclusion of a section on women’s rights in that chapter.

7. The chapter on women’s rights in the National Human Rights Action Plan for 2017-
2021 included a number of provisions relating to the rights set forth in the Convention in
areas such as violence against women, abortion, women heads of household, employment
and education. While progress had been made in empowering women, further efforts were
needed to bring the realization of gender equality into line with international standards.

8. The Sri Lankan legal system was a combination of Roman-Dutch law, English
common law and customary personal laws. The Government was addressing concerns
raised regarding a number of discriminatory provisions in the personal laws. In 2009, a 16-
member committee, which had included female members of the Muslim community, had
been appointed to propose amendments to the Muslim Marriage and Divorce Act and
improve the system of Quazi courts. In addition, following consultations with various
stakeholders, the Ministry of Women and Child Affairs had also issued recommendations in
that regard, which were being considered by the relevant Cabinet subcommittee.

2 GE.17-03011



CEDAW/C/SR.1484

9. It was expected that the recent increase in the minimum school leaving age from 14
years to 16 years would encourage girls to continue their education and thereby discourage
early marriage. In addition, the Government had repealed the discriminatory provisions that
had prevented Sri Lankan women from passing their nationality to their children on an
equal footing with Sri Lankan men.

10. Ms. Gunasekera (Sri Lanka) said that, in line with the Committee’s general
recommendation No. 30 on women in conflict prevention, conflict and post-conflict
situations, Sri Lanka had prioritized issues such as redress for enforced and involuntary
disappearance, the right to the truth, socioeconomic empowerment and support for women
affected by conflict. An Office of Missing Persons had been set up, and mechanisms
relating to justice, reparations and truth-seeking were being developed. Furthermore, the
Government had established an Office for National Unity and Reconciliation, headed by
former President Chandrika Bandaranaike Kumaratunga.

11.  In September 2016, the Cabinet had approved an action plan for female-headed
households. It provided for legal aid and mediation mechanisms targeting affected women
in the north and the east, offered a comprehensive definition of female-headed households
and prioritized six key programming areas. The Government was determined to address the
specific needs of such women and to that end was working with the United Nations Entity
for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women, the United Nations Population Fund
and other international bodies, as well as civil society organizations and bilateral partners.
A national centre for the empowerment of widows and female-headed families had been set
up in Kilinochchi in 2015. Since 2009, the Government had been implementing several
livelihood and income-generation programmes to protect the economic and social rights of
women, in particular women heads of household in the north and the east.

12.  Regarding the difficulties faced by women in relation to landownership, a draft
amendment to the Land Development Ordinance was being finalized. On 6 August 2016,
the Cabinet had approved the National Policy on Durable Solutions for Conflict-Affected
Displacement, which targeted the most vulnerable groups, including women heads of
household.

13.  Measures to combat violence against women and girls were being implemented
under an action plan based on an analysis of the phenomenon. The recommendations of that
analysis had also been incorporated into the Policy Framework and National Plan of Action
to address Sexual and Gender-based Violence in Sri Lanka, adopted in 2016. Also in 2016,
Sri Lanka had endorsed the Declaration of Commitment to End Sexual Violence in Conflict.

14.  While the Government had provided the Committee with statistics on cases of
violence against women, it had been unable to collect data disaggregated by category of
victim or suspect, and it was in need of support for capacity-building in that regard. A pilot
project to introduce a digital database for recording complaints of violence against women
had been implemented in the Thimbirigasyaya Divisional Secretariat, and a secure database
connecting police headquarters with police stations had been set up to gather detailed data
in real time.

15.  Sri Lanka had a robust health-care system that included programmes to prevent
sexual and gender-based violence and support survivors. Health-care facilities and staff
provided both institutional and field-based care to women and children across the country.
The Government provided counselling, legal aid and shelters to victims of sexual and
gender-based violence.

16.  The Ministry of Law and Order had been established to create a more responsive
and accountable police service. The Ministry of Women and Child Affairs was working
with 42 children’s and women’s desks in the police service to deal promptly with cases of
sexual and gender-based violence. The Sri Lankan police had deployed 279 female police
officers to children’s and women’s desks in the north and the east, and efforts were under
way to recruit 200 female Tamil-speaking police officers for those areas.

17.  The Government had taken measures to prevent trafficking in persons. In June 2015,
Sri Lanka had become a party to the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking
in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention

GE.17-03011 3



CEDAWY/C/SR.1484

against Transnational Organized Crime. A task force had developed a strategic plan to
monitor and combat human trafficking for the period 2015-2019.

18.  Ms. Senarathne (Sri Lanka) said that the empowerment of rural women was a
priority and that women had a vital role to play in efforts to achieve the Sustainable
Development Goals. The Government continued to implement microfinance initiatives for
the self-employment of rural women. In December 2015, it had decided that at least 25 per
cent of State project funds should be invested in initiatives to improve the rural economy
and facilitate the economic participation of rural women.

19.  Sri Lanka had achieved gender parity at the primary, secondary and tertiary
educational levels. The Government continued to promote accessibility and equality in
education by providing free education from the primary to the undergraduate level. Women
made up the majority of students at university and in non-vocational tertiary education. The
Government acknowledged that a gender imbalance remained in technology-related fields,
and the Education Sector Development Programme for 2013-2018, supported by the Asian
Development Bank, was aimed at improving the situation. The Government was also
committed to addressing gender stereotypes through gender mainstreaming and the
inclusion of gender in school curricula. Greater efforts nevertheless needed to be made to
increase women’s economic participation and political empowerment.

20.  The Prime Minister had issued a directive for the establishment of day-care centres
at workplaces with a view to promoting the employment of women. In addition, 600 day-
care centres were being set up in the plantations sector under the Early Childhood
Development Project, which was supported by the World Bank, and guidelines had been
developed to upgrade existing centres and train their staff.

21.  Mr. Aryasinha (Sri Lanka) said that, since 1976, the employment of Sri Lankans
abroad had generated substantial flows of income into the country. Owing to government
intervention to reduce the migration of unskilled labour, the rate of female emigration had
begun to decline in 2007.

22.  Anincreasing number of women occupied high- and mid-level managerial positions
in the public and private sectors and participated in the formulation of government policy at
all levels. Sri Lankan women served as secretaries of ministries and heads of diplomatic
missions and in the judiciary. The nineteenth amendment to the Constitution stipulated that
the Constitutional Council responsible for making appointments to high-level positions
should strive to achieve a gender balance. As part of the constitutional reform process,
more than 300 women had provided opinions before the Public Representative Commission.

23.  Sri Lanka had granted women the vote in 1931, had first elected a woman to its
legislative assembly in the same year and had been the world’s first country to have a
female prime minister. However, women remained underrepresented in legislative bodies,
and the Government was making efforts to remedy the situation. In 2016, for example, the
Local Authorities Elections Act had been amended to provide for a quota of 25 per cent for
women candidates in local government elections.

Articles 1 to 6

24.  Ms. Hayashi said that, in the context of the constitutional reform process, she
wished to know whether consideration had been given to the current absence of provisions
prohibiting direct and indirect discrimination against women, the issue of intersectional
discrimination based on gender and caste, the inclusion of sexual orientation among the
prohibited grounds of discrimination and the fact that article 16 of the Constitution allowed
laws that contravened the Convention to remain in force and did not provide for judicial
review. She also wished to know the time frame for the proposed referendum and the
constitutional reform process as a whole.

25.  Clarification was needed regarding the status of the most recent National Human
Rights Action Plan. In particular, it would be helpful to learn whether it had been officially
publicized and had entered into force and whether the State party planned to consolidate the
various overlapping action plans and programmes into a single policy document with the
necessary budget, benchmarks and monitoring mechanisms. Further information on the

4 GE.17-03011



CEDAW/C/SR.1484

measures to be taken under the National Human Rights Action Plan to repeal
discriminatory provisions would be welcome. Lastly, she wished to know how the State
party planned to improve women’s access to justice, in particular with regard to the
provision of affordable legal services in both national languages.

26.  Ms. Patten asked how the Government had responded to reports of a pervasive
climate of fear in the northern and eastern parts of the country, including reports of
harassment, violence and unjustified surveillance, in particular targeting women. Were
there plans to change the institutional culture that promoted such practices? She wished to
know what steps had been taken to demilitarize the north and to ensure that the military was
no longer involved in civil administration and that women had access to livelihood
opportunities. As the statistics provided by the State party showed that almost 50 per cent
of the sexual offence complaints received between 2011 and July 2016 were still under
investigation, it would be helpful to know what specific measures had been taken to
complete the investigations and prosecute the alleged perpetrators. She would be grateful
for an update on the 39 sexual violence cases involving the military that had been reported
to the Human Rights Committee in 2014. Were there plans to conduct comprehensive
mapping of all pending criminal investigations relating to habeas corpus and fundamental
rights petitions and the findings of all inquiries in which specific cases had been identified?

27.  She wished to know what specific measures had been taken to create an environment
more conducive to the reporting of cases of sexual violence, whether the Government took
a zero-tolerance approach towards sexual violence perpetrated by the armed forces and
police and, if so, whether monitoring mechanisms had been put in place. Furthermore, it
would be useful to learn whether consideration had been given to the possibility of
reviewing and amending the 2015 Assistance to and Protection of Victims of Crime and
Witnesses Act to incorporate better safeguards for the independence and effectiveness of
the victim and witness protection programme. She also asked how the Government planned
to ensure the independence and integrity of senior government officials appointed to the
Victim and Witness Protection Division.

28. Ms. Jinasena (Sri Lanka) said that the Constitution, domestic law and other
procedural laws ensured the compliance of Sri Lanka with its international obligations. The
Government was convinced that existing provisions were sufficient to protect the rights set
forth in the Convention.

29.  Article 12 of the Constitution established the right of all persons to equal protection
under the law and prohibited discrimination on the grounds of race, religion, language,
caste, sex, political opinion or place of birth. It also allowed special provision to be made,
by law or executive action, for the advancement of women, children or disabled persons.
Under article 27, the State was obliged to ensure equality of opportunity to all citizens and
to establish a society in which the fundamental rights and freedoms of all persons could be
realized.

30.  Various legislative amendments had been made to ensure compliance with the
Convention. The Penal Code, for example, had been amended to establish a mandatory
minimum sentence for various offences, including rape, procuring and trafficking in
persons. Furthermore, in its verdict on case No. SC/FR/No. 76/2012, in which it had
granted relief to a woman who had suffered discrimination, the Supreme Court had referred
to the obligations of Sri Lanka under the Convention; several other cases involving
discrimination were pending.

31. Ms. Manatunga (Sri Lanka) said that, as detailed in paragraphs 14 to 20 of the
replies of Sri Lanka to the list of issues (CEDAW/C/LKA/Q/8/Add.1), the National Human
Rights Action Plan for 2017-2021 had been adopted in January 2017 and covered the repeal
or review of a number of discriminatory laws and various other legislative amendments.

32.  Ms. Gunasekera (Sri Lanka) said that the Prime Minister had taken a leading role
in efforts to address the issue of sexual and gender-based violence. Data-collection
mechanisms needed to be improved, and work was under way to digitize the process for
registering complaints.

GE.17-03011 5



CEDAWY/C/SR.1484

33.  Ms. Patten said that she would be grateful for a response to her question on the
efforts being made to combat impunity. In that connection, she drew attention to the reports
of the former Special Rapporteurs on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, Philip
Alston and Christof Heyns, and the graphic footage broadcast by Channel 4 News.
Furthermore, while the enactment of the Office of Missing Persons Act represented a
positive step, the delegation should comment on reports that the Government was seeking
to weaken its provisions, in particular those relating to international cooperation. In
addition, in the light of Human Rights Council resolution 30/1 (2015), she wished to know
the Government’s current position on the establishment of a special court and the
participation of international judges, prosecutors, investigators and lawyers in the
transitional justice process. She would welcome an update on the status of the report
prepared by the Consultation Task Force on Reconciliation Mechanisms and the
implementation of its recommendations. Was the Government committed to defending the
report against attempts by some government officials to discredit it?

34. Ms. Hayashi said that, when the State party had ratified the Convention against
Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and the
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, it had enacted legislation to reflect the
rights set out in those instruments. However, it had enacted no such legislation in relation to
the Convention. The National Human Rights Action Plan contained recommendations for a
series of new provisions, but a specific law should be introduced to ensure that those
provisions were indeed established. In her view, the introduction of such a law would not
be worthwhile unless article 16 of the Constitution was repealed.

35.  Ms. Halperin-Kaddari asked whether a gender component had been incorporated
into plans for the hybrid special court to be set up as part of the transitional justice process
and what measures had been taken to increase the participation of women in the process of
reforming the customary personal laws.

36. Ms. Rana asked what specific measures had been taken to increase the participation
of women and civil society in the national peacebuilding and reconciliation process and
national planning processes. The Committee would be grateful for an update on the
progress made towards the adoption of the draft national action plan on the implementation
of Security Council resolution 1325 (2000) and subsequent Security Council resolutions on
women and peace and security. It would be helpful in particular to learn whether
consultations had already been held with provincial councils, district secretaries and the
community. In addition, she wished to know the Government’s position with regard to the
militarization of the land in the north and east of the country and whether the review of the
Land Development Ordinance would cover land-grabbing by the military.

37.  Ms. Schulz asked whether a woman who had been discriminated against under a
legislative provision and who exercised her constitutional right to apply to the Supreme
Court in respect of the infringement of a fundamental right by executive or administrative
action could obtain redress in the form of annulment of that provision, and whether sexual
orientation would be added to the list of constitutionally prohibited grounds of
discrimination. Lastly, she expressed concern at the length of time taken to introduce
legislative amendments, as many of the legislative issues discussed during the consideration
of the previous periodic report of Sri Lanka had still not been resolved.

38.  Ms. Haidar said that, regarding the transitional justice process, she wished to know
whether there was sufficient political will to facilitate the secure and confidential testimony
of witnesses from abroad and whether consideration had been given to the use of letters
rogatory, as victims were currently deterred from coming forward by the requirement to
testify at a Sri Lankan embassy, which risked compromising their anonymity.

39.  Mr. Aryasinha (Sri Lanka) said that, while some initiatives had not been fully
implemented, Sri Lanka had nevertheless made great advances in the sphere of women’s
rights, in particular over the previous two years. Since the end of the conflict, the
Government had gradually and systematically restored civil administration in the affected
areas. Under the nineteenth amendment to the Constitution, the police department operated
under the National Police Commission, on which women were represented. In addition, the
zero-tolerance approach to gender-based violence and torture had been strengthened in

6 GE.17-03011



CEDAW/C/SR.1484

recent years. Measures had been taken to ensure that substantiated allegations were
thoroughly investigated. As detailed in paragraph 46 of the replies of Sri Lanka to the list of
issues (CEDAW/C/LKA/Q/8/Add.1), instructions had been issued to law enforcement
officials regarding the rights of arrested and detained persons and the action that would be
taken against persons found to have perpetrated human rights violations.

40. The Government had issued a standing invitation to special procedures mandate
holders. Over the previous few years, around five had visited the country, two or three
further visits had been scheduled, and several other requests were being processed. The
Special Rapporteur on the promotion of truth, justice, reparation and guarantees of non-
recurrence had offered assistance in an informal capacity and had made several visits to the
country. Special procedures mandate holders were granted unfettered access to all areas,
and some of them had noted that the country’s detention centres were not a cause for
concern. The recommendations received from special procedures mandate holders were
studied carefully.

41. The Government could not investigate allegations of sexual and gender-based
violence perpetrated by the security forces unless it had full access to the relevant evidence.
One NGO that had highlighted allegations had refused to hand over such evidence.
Similarly, the Channel 4 News team had refused a request to hand over the original footage
from which its programme had been assembled, and the veracity of the allegations thus
could not be confirmed.

42.  With regard to transitional justice mechanisms, the Government had embarked on an
inclusive process in line with Human Rights Council resolution 30/1 (2015), with the aim
of ensuring the right to truth, justice and guarantees of non-recurrence. The Office of
Missing Persons had been established in August 2016, and provision would also be made
for a truth-seeking commission, a judicial mechanism with a special counsel and an office
for reparations. Furthermore, a secretariat responsible for coordinating the reconciliation
mechanisms had been set up in 2016. Its work had included consulting experts and securing
the required training and capacity-building. The Government would examine allegations of
sexual violence through the proposed mechanisms. Further updates would soon be provided
to the Human Rights Council. The Consultation Task Force on Reconciliation Mechanisms
had been set up to seek the views of the public with regard to the design of the mechanisms.
It was headed by a woman, and 6 of its 11 members were women. It had completed a round
of consultations and had submitted a report containing recommendations.

43. It was important to note that the truth-seeking and reconciliation process was
currently at an early stage. Thus, while the Government would certainly be grateful for
further assistance and support, criticism of its work to date would be not only premature,
but also counterproductive.

44,  Ms. Jinasena (Sri Lanka) said that victim and witness protection was provided by
an authority established under the Assistance to and Protection of Victims of Crime and
Witnesses Act. The authority was considering 14 requests for protection filed under the Act,
which also provided for legal aid through a network of lawyers available to assist victims.

45,  Ms. Rana said that despite the considerable number of national action plans in place
on various aspects of human rights and the advancement of women, there had been
significant delays in the establishment of a national commission for women, which had
been in the pipeline for several years. She wished to know the status of the bill for the
establishment of the commission, when the bill was likely to be adopted, what authority the
commission would have, how adequate financial and human resources would be secured to
enable it to function effectively, and how its independence would be guaranteed. She also
wished to know how the commission would be appointed, and to what degree civil society
representatives had been involved in finalizing the bill.

46.  While she welcomed the Government’s plan to establish a gender mainstreaming
committee with gender focal points in each ministry, she expressed concern that existing
committees and programmes were underfunded and asked how those new committees
would be financed. How would tasks relating to women’s advancement be divided among
the ministries, and how would policy coherence be achieved? She asked how the gender
focal points would be appointed, what their role would be and what authority they would

GE.17-03011 7



CEDAWY/C/SR.1484

have. Given the general lack of funding, she wondered whether a consolidated action plan
for the advancement of women would in fact be a more practical approach.

47. The Committee was concerned about reports that the Government’s plan to
decriminalize homosexuality had been abandoned on grounds of culture and that the
National Human Rights Action Plan had been adopted without consultation with the
national Human Rights Commission or civil society. She asked whether there was a
monitoring mechanism in place to oversee implementation of the Action Plan.

48. Ms. Song, welcoming the State party’s efforts to institute temporary special
measures to increase gender equality, in particular the establishment of quotas to enhance
women’s political participation at the local level, asked whether the impact of those
measures had been assessed and whether any obstacles to their implementation had been
encountered. She wished to know whether the State party intended to incorporate quotas for
women’s political participation into law and whether similar measures would be instituted
to increase women’s political participation at the national level. She asked whether there
were any other areas, in addition to political participation, where further temporary special
measures might be required to ensure de facto equality for women.

49.  Ms. Senarathne (Sri Lanka) said that the various action plans addressed different
aspects of human rights and women’s advancement, each of which could be implemented
by the relevant ministry, while all of those aspects were brought together under the National
Human Rights Action Plan. An independent steering committee would be established to
oversee and coordinate implementation of the various plans. Quotas for women’s
participation in politics had only been set at the local level. The Government hoped that if
participation was encouraged at the local level, participation at the national level would
follow naturally in due course.

50. Ms. Gunasekera (Sri Lanka) said that temporary special measures were introduced
when the need arose. A special recruitment effort had been made, for example, to employ
Tamil-speaking female police officers in the civil defence forces. Challenges had arisen,
however, owing to a dearth of qualified candidates.

51. Ms. Rana asked which officials would be on the steering committee to oversee
implementation of the National Human Rights Action Plan, and what monitoring
mechanisms were in place.

52. Ms. Senarathne (Sri Lanka) said that she would chair the steering committee, the
membership of which would comprise ministerial secretaries. The allocation of funds for
the implementation of the action plans would be monitored by the budget department, and
the implementation of activities would be monitored by the relevant ministries.

53.  Ms. Manatunga (Sri Lanka) said that each of the draft plans on individual thematic
areas, which had been compiled to form the National Human Rights Action Plan, had been
submitted to the national Human Rights Commission for its consideration. The
Commission’s comments and recommendations had been incorporated before the final draft
consolidated action plan had been submitted to the Cabinet for approval.

54.  Ms. Acosta Vargas asked, with respect to the State party’s efforts to change societal
attitudes and address gender stereotypes in education, the media and the entertainment
industry, whether any specific activities had been conducted with civil society groups and
women’s associations to raise awareness of the prevailing culture of discrimination against
women. She requested clarification with regard to the State party’s intention to redefine the
“head of household” concept in gender-neutral terms.

55.  During situations of civil war, the persistence of traditional gender stereotypes could
undermine women’s access to justice and foster a culture of impunity. That culture still
prevailed in the State party. The Committee was particularly concerned to note that police
and judicial authorities often expressed contempt for women who filed complaints of
violence and discrimination. The high tolerance for women’s suffering was a stark
demonstration of inequality. Many authorities appeared to accept the idea that women
should be little more than slaves to their husbands and should be expected to provide sexual
favours in exchange for the services they needed, even those of a public nature. What steps,
in addition to routine training, were being taken to change those patterns of conduct, and

8 GE.17-03011



CEDAW/C/SR.1484

what punitive measures had been taken against officials who were supposed to protect the
public but had worsened the situation of women by perpetuating stereotypes?

56. Ms. Vall Verges expressed concern that little progress had been made in the
prevention of violence against women over the reporting period. Legislation on violence
against women had been adopted but was not being implemented. There were significant
delays in the consideration of complaints in domestic violence cases, with the result that
complainants often became discouraged and withdrew their complaints. Social support for
victims was inadequate and data on violence were not disaggregated and therefore did not
present a clear picture of the situation. Action to implement the Committee’s previous
recommendations had been lacking; in particular, no substantial efforts had been made to
improve women’s access to justice, which was impeded by traditions and customs that
allowed women to seek justice only with their hushands’ permission. The marked increase
in violence against women since the end of the civil war was particularly alarming.
Training programmes offered by the authorities for the reintegration of female former
combatants into the labour market were rife with gender stereotypes. She asked what was
being done to rectify all those problems.

57.  Ms. Jahan asked when the planned legislative reform to address trafficking in
persons would take place, what obstacles were impeding the implementation of new laws
and policies, and whether the new legislation would include specific gender components.
She wished to know how adequate human and financial resources were provided to
government authorities working to address trafficking in persons and to the National Anti-
Human Trafficking Task Force. The low rates of investigation, prosecution and punishment
of traffickers exposed a serious legal gap that must be bridged. She asked what would be
done to ensure that such offenders were prosecuted for trafficking and not for procuring,
which carried lighter penalties. Were officials being trained in victim identification, and
were procedures in place to prevent the deportation of foreign victims of trafficking?
Allegations of official complicity in trafficking were particularly serious and must be
addressed. Women migrant workers and internally displaced persons were especially
vulnerable to trafficking. She wished to know what measures were in place to protect them
and to monitor the patterns of employment of such workers. What was being done to tackle
the root causes of trafficking?

58.  The situation with regard to prostitution and sexual exploitation, and in particular the
misuse of the Vagrants Ordinance to arrest women, who were often then mistreated, was
especially worrying. She requested updated information on the measures taken to repeal the
Vagrants Ordinance. The involvement of officials in sexual bribery, in particular in
militarized zones, was very serious and must be addressed. She wished to know if the
Bribery Act would be amended to include a specific reference to the offence of sexual
bribery.

59.  Ms. Gunasekera (Sri Lanka) said that many households in Sri Lanka were headed
by women. It was imperative to set standards whereby the term “head of household” was
viewed as gender-neutral and to move away from patriarchal standards and assumptions.
Many women sought to migrate to countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council in search of
employment; often they were heads of household.

60. The Government took matters of gender mainstreaming and awareness-raising very
seriously. Challenges persisted, however. The Cabinet was responsible for setting up
gender mainstreaming programmes in all ministries to ensure gender equity in policy
formulation and implementation and promote gender budgeting. In order to minimize
sexual harassment and gender-based discrimination in the workplace, a gender focal point
would be appointed in each ministry.

61. Efforts were being made to change societal attitudes and overcome stereotypes.
Gender had been mainstreamed in school curricula from the primary level onward, and
steps were being taken to eliminate stereotyping in the entertainment industry and the mass
media.

62. Ms. Jayasuriya (Sri Lanka) said that sexual and gender-based violence was an
unfortunate fact of life throughout Sri Lanka, and women had become particularly
vulnerable in the post-conflict era. The Prime Minister’s office had taken a strong stance on

GE.17-03011 9



CEDAWY/C/SR.1484

10

violence against women, and the police had been empowered to tackle the problem. The
lack of specific data on victims, perpetrators and types of crime had been an impediment to
progress. Efforts were being made to gather the relevant data. The Prevention of Domestic
Violence Act was being amended, medical and psychosocial support were being provided
to victims and legal provisions enabled third parties to institute cases.

63.  Police officers were being trained in the sensitive handling of gender-based violence
and in human rights-based policing. Revisions to the law on abortion were being considered.
Measures had been taken to increase the number of police officers who spoke local
languages, in particular Tamil, and more female police officers had been deployed in the
northern part of Sri Lanka. Several perpetrators of sexual bribery had been convicted
through the work of the Commission to Investigate Allegations of Bribery or Corruption.

64.  On the prevention of trafficking in persons, she said that an interministerial anti-
trafficking task force had been established, and some 1.5 million rupees had been allocated
to setting up a shelter for victims. While trafficking in persons was defined as an offence
under the Penal Code, trafficking offences were difficult to prove. The Ministry of Foreign
Employment was taking action to regulate employment subagents at the regional level.
Poverty and lack of empowerment, however, continued to prompt people to migrate from
Sri Lanka in search of employment. Standard operating procedures for handling cases of
trafficking were being followed with the support of the International Organization for
Migration. Joint action was being taken in the region to protect migrant workers through the
Colombo Process. The most recent ministerial meeting in that context had culminated in a
commitment to promote women’s empowerment and protection. The Government was
doing its utmost to improve communication with labour-receiving countries in the Gulf
Cooperation Council, with the aim of eliminating the risk of migrant abuse.

65. Ms. Patten said that while the measures taken to promote good governance and
national reconciliation were welcome, progress remained worryingly slow. Violence
against women, in particular in the north and east of the country, remained prevalent. The
Committee was particularly concerned about reports that widows and family members of
the disappeared and women activists working on their behalf were asked for sexual services
in return for information about their loved ones. She asked what was being done to
eliminate sexual bribery and to address intimidation and harassment by the criminal
investigation authorities, particularly against women who were former combatants. The
Committee had also received reports of sexual abuse of women who were being given
vocational training by military personnel. What measures were being taken to eliminate and
prevent such abuse?

66. Ms. Jahan asked to what extent the Government had benefited from hearing about
the experiences and best practices of other countries in addressing trafficking in persons,
through the regional consultations of the Colombo Process. She expressed concern that
measures to prohibit the migration of domestic workers under the age of 23 to the Middle
East could in fact serve to encourage illicit migration and trafficking. She asked what
monitoring measures were in place to ensure that young women were not victimized as a
result of that prohibition. She wished to know whether sexual bribery and the appropriate
penalties would be included explicitly in the Bribery Act.

67.  Ms. Acosta Vargas said that the issue of heads of household was not gender-neutral;
the vulnerability of women heads of household must be acknowledged, particularly in the
context of conflict and post-conflict reconstruction. She asked whether civil society groups
and women’s associations were involved in efforts to change societal attitudes and address
negative patterns of behaviour that affected women. During the post-conflict transitional
period, women were suffering the most. She would welcome further information on how
public officials who acted on the basis of prejudice and stereotypes, in particular law
enforcement officers, would be sanctioned. The Committee had been informed that the
average time taken to consider a domestic violence case was 10 years in the case of adult
victims, and that judicial procedures were preceded by mediation panels in which religious
authorities tried to dissuade women from proceeding with their cases. She asked whether
the State party had any intention of changing that system.

GE.17-03011



CEDAW/C/SR.1484

68.  Ms. Vall Verges asked what amendments were being made to legislation in order to
prevent domestic violence. She would appreciate further information on the prevalence of
rape, the number of rape cases reported and the number of convictions.

69.  Ms. Hayashi asked for the Government’s views on the provision of compulsory
counselling to victims of domestic violence. In northern Sri Lanka, land-grabbing by the
military when taking up civil administrative duties had caused large-scale displacement.
She wished to know what was being done to demilitarize those areas and ensure the
restitution of land and rights, in particular to women.

70.  Ms. Schulz asked what measures were in place to protect sex workers against
violence and whether there was a clear time frame for the repeal of the Vagrants Ordinance.
She also asked whether the State party intended to amend the Penal Code and trafficking
legislation with a view to decriminalizing consensual sex work and stopping the conflation
of trafficking, sexual exploitation and sex work.

71.  Ms. Halperin-Kaddari asked whether the State party planned to amend the Penal
Code to decriminalize sexual activity between two consenting adults of the same sex.

72.  Ms. Jinasena (Sri Lanka) said that a committee had been appointed to draft a new
Constitution for consideration by Parliament. Seven subcommittees had been set up to
oversee the treatment of particular thematic areas in the new draft. The subcommittee
responsible for fundamental human rights had engaged in comprehensive consultations on
sexual orientation, and had proposed that sexual orientation should be included in the list of
prohibited grounds of discrimination. That proposal was under consideration.

73.  Ms. Jayasuriya (Sri Lanka) said that the requirement to obtain family background
reports when women wished to migrate had been introduced in good faith for the protection
of women’s families, particularly since many potential migrant workers came from remote
areas and were low-skilled workers. Efforts were being made to provide training for those
women, with a view to generating a productive, skilled workforce and encouraging them to
seek employment opportunities in Sri Lanka. With regard to trafficking, a digitized
complaint system had been set up and a shelter for victims had been established at Colombo
airport, which provided psychosocial support for victims. The Government was committed
to the Colombo Process and the Abu Dhabi Dialogue. In that context, efforts were being
made to provide pre-departure orientation and prevent undocumented migration.
Demilitarization was under way, but was a gradual process, in the course of which land was
being released from military control.

74.  Ms. Gunasekera (Sri Lanka) said that amendments to the Prevention of Domestic
Violence Act had been drafted by legal experts, with an emphasis on repealing
discriminatory provisions on the credibility of evidence given by women. The proposed
amendments had been submitted to the Ministry of Justice for appropriate action. Delays in
the disposition of cases did indeed affect victims and posed a perennial problem owing to
the sizeable caseload. The Chief Justice had issued a directive for trials to be taken up on a
day-to-day basis. Consideration was also being given to the establishment of a special court
to deal with cases involving child abuse.

75.  Ms. Senarathne (Sri Lanka) said that a draft action plan for the implementation of
United Nations Security Council resolution 1325 (2000) on women and peace and security
was being prepared through a comprehensive consultation process at all levels of the
national administration. The action plan would address sexual violence and armed conflict,
the participation of women in political and public life, gender mainstreaming in the security
forces and poverty alleviation among women affected by war, among other issues. The
rehabilitation of former combatants was taken very seriously, and female former
combatants were given priority in social programmes, with particular efforts to retrain them
and give them access to higher education and the labour market. Considerable efforts were
being made to overcome the social stigma attached to former combatants, with support
from neighbouring countries, in particular the Government of India.

GE.17-03011 11



CEDAWY/C/SR.1484

12

Articles 7to 9

76.  Ms. Song said that women’s participation in political and public life was both a goal
and a strategy in the area of gender equality. A critical mass of women in leadership
positions was crucial, yet women remained severely underrepresented in politics in the
State party. She asked for information on the root causes of such low levels of participation
and on the changes that would be made to the electoral system to address them. She
wondered to what extent the women’s caucus, established in Parliament in 2006, had been
successful and what difficulties had been encountered in meeting the goal of achieving a
30-per-cent increase in women’s representation in Parliament, provincial councils and local
government. She also asked whether women in the diplomatic service received adequate
training opportunities to facilitate their upward mobility, and how many of the State party’s
ambassadors were women.

The meeting rose at 1 p.m.

GE.17-03011



